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STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

Plaintiff-Appellee Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC (“Southern

Glazer”) requests oral argument in this matter. Fed. R. App. P. 34(a)(1). This case

presents legal questions addressing the interplay of the Ohio Alcoholic Beverages

Franchise Act and a written franchise agreement, which have not been

authoritatively decided by this Court. Southern Glazer believes that oral argument

will assist this Court in rendering a decision.
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the District Court abused its discretion when it entered a

preliminary injunction enjoining The Great Lakes Brewing Company (“Great

Lakes”) from unlawfully terminating Southern Glazer’s distribution franchise.

2. Whether the District Court abused its discretion when it determined

that Southern Glazer’s likelihood of success on the merits weighed in favor of

issuing a preliminary injunction where there are serious questions going to the

merits as to (a) whether the terms of the parties’ written franchise that purport to

require Great Lakes’ consent to a change in Southern Glazer’s ownership are “void

and unenforceable” under Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.83 and cannot support a

termination for “just cause” under Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85, and (b) whether the

change in a distributor’s ownership constitutes the sale, assignment, or transfer of

“the franchise” that requires a manufacturer’s consent under Ohio Rev. Code

§ 1333.84(F).

3. Whether the District Court committed clear error in finding that

Southern Glazer would be irreparably harmed if Great Lakes were permitted to

terminate Southern Glazer’s distribution franchise.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Great Lakes Brewing Company (“Great Lakes”) has attempted to

terminate the distribution franchise of Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC

(“Southern Glazer”) in clear violation of Ohio law. Southern Glazer seeks to

prevent Great Lakes’ unlawful termination, which would inflict significant and

irreparable damage and would, if permitted, eviscerate the statutory protections

afforded to distributors under the Ohio Alcoholic Beverages Franchise Act (the

“Franchise Act”), Ohio Revised Code §§ 1333.82 et seq.

At the core of this case lies a conflict between the protections of the

Franchise Act and the terms of Great Lakes’ written franchise agreement, as they

relate to the change in Southern Glazer’s ownership that occurred on June 30,

2016. In particular, the Act and the agreement conflict as to whether Great Lakes’

objection to the change in Southern Glazer’s ownership constitutes “just cause” to

terminate Southern Glazer’s franchise. Southern Glazer maintains that Great

Lakes’ consent was not required under the Franchise Act, and that as a result the

conflicting provisions in Great Lakes’ written franchise agreement that purport to

require such consent and to permit termination for failure to obtain such consent

are “void and unenforceable” under Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.83.

Southern Glazer therefore filed this lawsuit on September 8, 2016, seeking

declaratory and injunctive relief to protect its franchise rights. (Compl., RE 1,
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PAGEID #1; Mot. for TRO, RE 3, PAGEID #38.) Great Lakes opposed Southern

Glazer’s motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction.

(Mem. Opp’n to TRO, RE 9, PAGEID #112; Opp’n to TRO. RE 14, PAGEID

#231.) The District Court conducted a hearing on Southern Glazer’s motion on

September 19, 2016. (Order, RE 8, PAGEID #111; Hr’g Tr., RE 39, PAGEID

#724.)

On September 23, 2016, the District Court issued a preliminary injunction to

maintain the status quo while the merits of the case are resolved on an expedited

basis. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #448; Scheduling Order, RE 38, PAGEID#

721–22.)1 In doing so, the District Court held that: (1) Southern Glazer’s claims

raise serious questions on the merits, (2) the evidentiary record establishes that

Southern Glazer would be irreparably harmed by Great Lakes’ attempted

termination, (3) maintaining the status quo will not injure Great Lakes or any third

parties, and (4) the public interest factor is neutral. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID

#447.) Southern Glazer posted bond on September 28, 2016 (Sept. 28, 2016

Docket Entry), and Great Lakes timely appealed the District Court’s Opinion and

Order on October 20, 2016. (Not. of Appeal, RE 35, PAGEID #713.)

1 In accordance with the Scheduling Order, Southern Glazer’s has filed dispositive
motions on all of the parties’ claims. (Mtn. to Dismiss, RE 40, PAGEID #764–
805; Mtn. for Sum. Jgmt, RE 58, PAGEID #1151–71.) The trial date is set for
May 15, 2017, should a trial be necessary. (Scheduling Order, RE 38, PAGEID
#722.)
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Before turning to the facts that form the basis for the parties’ dispute, it is

important to clarify what is not at issue in this case. This case does not involve the

“successor manufacturer” termination provision in Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85(D),

which this Court has addressed on several occasions—including its decision last

year in Tri Cty. Wholesale Distribs. v. Labatt USA Operating Co., 828 F.3d 421

(6th Cir. 2016). Indeed, Great Lakes has admitted that it is not a “successor

manufacturer” under that statute. (Great Lakes Answer & Counterclaim, RE 21,

PAGEID #453.)

This case also does not involve a termination under Ohio Rev. Code

§ 1333.85 for “just cause” based on any deficiency in Southern Glazer’s

performance as a distributor. Southern Glazer has successfully distributed the

Great Lakes brands in central and Southern Ohio for nearly eighteen years, and in

the last five years alone Southern Glazer’s sales of Great Lakes have increased by

more than 43%. (Hr’g Tr., RE 39, PAGEID #746.) Moreover, Great Lakes has

conceded that it does not wish to terminate Southern Glazer’s franchise for any

performance-related reasons. (Id. at PAGEID #753.)

As such, the sole issue on the merits is Great Lakes’ assertion that it is

entitled to terminate Southern Glazer because Great Lakes did not give its prior

consent to the change in Southern Glazer’s ownership. In taking this position,

Great Lakes seeks to establish a broad precedent that would effectively nullify the
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Franchise Act by allowing manufacturers to re-define and limit distributors’ rights

through written franchise agreements that the manufacturers themselves draft and

impose upon their distributors.

A. The Ohio Alcoholic Beverages Franchise Act

The relationship between “manufacturers,” such as Great Lakes, who brew

and supply alcoholic beverages, and “distributors,” such as Southern Glazer, who

distribute those beverages to retailers, is governed by the Ohio Franchise Act. See

Ohio Rev. Code §§ 1333.82–1333.87.

The Ohio legislature recognized that distributors and manufacturers of

alcoholic beverages are not on equal footing. See Esber Bev. Co. v. Labatt United

States Operating Co. LLC, 138 Ohio St. 3d 71, 73 (2013). A distributor’s entire

business is dependent on products that are created and controlled by

manufacturers. As a result, “distributors often have a substantial investment in

their businesses” and “to allow a manufacturer unilaterally to terminate a franchise

agreement puts the franchise distributors at great risk of harm.” Beverage Distribs.

v. Miller Brewing Co., 803 F. Supp. 2d 765, 777 (S.D. Ohio 2009) (internal

quotation marks and citation omitted).

Consequently, the Ohio legislature enacted the Ohio Franchise Act “to

eliminate unfair practices by beer and wine manufacturers in their dealings with

distributors.” Esber Bev. Co., 138 Ohio St. 3d at 73, quoting Legislative Service

      Case: 16-4235     Document: 18     Filed: 01/20/2017     Page: 13



- 6 -

Commission Bill Analysis, Am.Sub.H.B. No. 857 (1974). The protections created

by the Franchise Act are intended “to remedy the lack of equal bargaining power”

inherent in the parties’ relationship. See Bellas Co. v. Pabst Brewing Co., 492 F.

App’x 553, 557 (6th Cir. 2012).

One of the Franchise Act’s fundamental protections provided to distributors

is that manufacturers cannot terminate a franchise without “just cause.” Ohio Rev.

Code § 1333.85; Tri Cty. Wholesale Distribs. v. Labatt USA Operating Co., 828

F.3d 421, 423 (6th Cir. 2016). Courts strictly enforce the “just cause” standard and

permit termination only where there is an actual deficiency in the distributor’s

performance. See, e.g., Tri Cty. Wholesale Distribs. Inc. v. Wine Grp., Inc. 565 F.

App’x 477, 481 (6th Cir. 2012) (concluding that a distributer had a “near certainty

of success” where manufacturer attempted to terminate franchise for its own

economic benefit rather than due to a deficiency in the distributor’s performance).

Another key protection afforded by the Franchise Act is that manufacturers

may not undermine or circumvent the Act through their written franchise

agreements with distributors. The Franchise Act was originally enacted in 1974,

and from the outset it required a manufacturer to offer in good faith to its

distributors a written franchise agreement. See Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.83. But

eighteen years later, the Ohio General Assembly amended that statute to clarify that

“[a]ny provision of a franchise agreement that waives any of the prohibitions of, or
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fails to comply with, sections 1333.82 to 1333.87 of the Revised Code is void and

unenforceable.” Id.; see 119th General Assembly SB 284 (1992).

In addition to these protections, and particularly relevant in this case, the

Franchise Act also addresses the circumstances in which a distributor must obtain a

manufacturer’s consent. In particular, Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.84(F) requires a

distributor to obtain a manufacturer’s consent to “sell, assign, or transfer the

franchise,” but it does not require a manufacturer’s consent with respect to “the

distributor’s right to sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise dispose of the distributor’s

business, in all or in part,” and prohibits manufacturers from “[r]efus[ing] to

recognize the rights of … shareholders” (emphasis added). That distinction cuts to

the heart of this case, because there has been no sale, assignment, or transfer of

Southern Glazer’s franchise with Great Lakes—and it is only a transfer of “the

franchise” that requires a manufacturer’s consent.

B. Southern Glazer’s Franchise With Great Lakes

Southern Glazer is an Ohio limited liability company with its principal place

of business at 4800 Poth Road in Columbus, Ohio, and it distributes beer, wine,

and other alcoholic beverages in various Ohio counties. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID

#824–25, ¶1.)2 Great Lakes was Ohio’s first craft brewery. (Mem. Opp’n to TRO,

2 Although the Joint Stipulation was entered after the District Court issued its
preliminary injunction opinion, the stipulated facts do not materially differ from
those presented in the injunction record, and indeed Great Lakes cites the
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RE 9, PAGEID #113; Conway Aff., RE 9-1, PAGEID #137, ¶3.) Southern Glazer

currently distributes Great Lakes in 34 counties in central and Southern Ohio.

(Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID #69-70, ¶4.)

The franchise relationship between Great Lakes and Southern Glazer began

in 1999. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #827, ¶18.) At that time, Great Lakes was

being distributed in central and Southern Ohio by a distributor named Robins Wine

& Spirits, Inc. (“Robins”). (Id. at PAGEID #826–27, ¶¶9, 18.) Southern Glazer,

then named Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc., acquired Robins in 1999 and began

distributing Great Lakes’ craft beers in the counties in which Robins had

distributed Great Lakes. (Id.)

In the years since, Southern Glazer has continued to distribute Great Lakes

and has at all relevant times done so exclusively from its Columbus branch, located

at 4800 Poth Road. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #828, ¶¶24-25.) During that time,

Southern Glazer has expended considerable resources developing a market for

Great Lakes’ brands. (See, e.g., Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID #72, ¶16.)

Currently, Great Lakes’ products constitute 25% of the beer revenue in Southern

Glazer’s Columbus branch and 4% of the Columbus branch’s total revenue. (Id. at

PAGEID #70, ¶9.)

stipulation throughout its brief. As such, for consistency and convenience,
Southern Glazer’s also cites to the Joint Stipulation.
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On September 14, 2006, Great Lakes and Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc.

entered into a written franchise agreement that was prepared by Great Lakes.

(Franchise Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #154–67; Hr’g Tr., RE 39, PAGEID

#729.) Among other things, the agreement includes provisions purporting to

require Southern Glazer’s consent for certain events. For example, the

agreement—like the Franchise Act—requires Great Lakes’ prior consent for an

assignment of the franchise agreement: “Wholesaler must obtain GLBC’s prior

written consent to any transfer, sale or assignment of this Agreement (an

‘Assignment’) or any rights or obligations that arise from it.” (Franchise

Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(c).)

However, unlike the Franchise Act, Great Lakes’ franchise agreement

purports to also require Great Lakes’ prior written consent before there may be a

change in the distributor’s ownership:

Wholesaler must obtain GLBC’s prior written consent to any change
in the ownership of Wholesaler (an “Ownership Change”), including:
(i) any sale or transfer of more than 20% of the outstanding voting
shares in Wholesaler or a change in partnership interests representing
more than 20% of the business; (ii) any change, whether by one
transaction or a series of transactions, having the practical effect of
changing or transferring the power to determine Wholesaler’s
business policies; (iii) a sale of all or a significant portion of
Wholesaler’s assets; or (iv) a change that would require Wholesaler’s
notification to TTB of a change in ownership under the provisions of
27 C.F.R. § 1.42 or a successor regulation.

(Franchise Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(a).)
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The Great Lakes agreement also contains provisions addressing when the

franchise may be terminated. Section 10(c)(v) purportedly allows Great Lakes to

terminate the agreement immediately if “Wholesaler undertakes an Ownership

Change or Assignment without the written consent required by section 9.” (Id. at

PAGEID #161.) Further, Section 10(d) purportedly allows Great Lakes to

terminate Southern Glazer’s franchise rights “for any reason or no reason at all”

upon the payment of compensation. (Id. at PAGEID #162.)

In addition, § 12(b) contains a severability clause which states:

The parties acknowledge and agree that to the best of their knowledge,
the terms of this Agreement comply with all applicable laws,
regulations and rulings. In the event that any provision of this
Agreement is deemed illegal or unenforceable, that conclusion shall
not affect the enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement.

(Id. at PAGEID #163.)

C. The Transaction Between Southern And Glazer’s

The dispute in this case arises out of a transaction that occurred between

Glazer’s, Inc., (the former parent company of the Plaintiff in this case) and

Southern Wine & Spirits of America, Inc. (Plaintiff’s current parent company, now

named Southern Glazer’s Wine and Spirits, LLC).

On January 11, 2016, Southern Wine & Spirits of America, Inc. and

Glazer’s, Inc. issued a press release announcing the signing of a definitive

agreement to combine their businesses. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #828, ¶27;
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Press Release, RE 45-4, PAGEID #879–81; Press Release, RE 9-6, PAGEID #180–

81.) At that time, Southern Wine & Spirits of America, Inc. was a Florida

corporation and was the nation’s largest wine and spirits distributor. (Jt. Stip., RE

45, PAGEID #828–29, ¶28.) Glazer’s, Inc. was a Texas corporation and one of the

nation’s largest distributors of wine, spirits, and malt beverages. (Id. at PAGEID

#829, ¶29.)

The transaction between Glazer’s, Inc. and Southern Wine & Spirits of

America, Inc. closed on June 30, 2016 (the “Southern-Glazer’s Transaction”). (Id.

at PAGEID #829, ¶30.) The general structure of the Transaction was that Glazer’s

would contribute the membership interests in its subsidiaries to Southern in

exchange for membership interests in Southern. (Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID

#73, ¶18.) To achieve that result, the names and formats of some of the Glazer’s

and Southern entities changed:

 On June 21, 2016, Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc. converted from an
Ohio corporation to an Ohio limited liability company and changed its name
to Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #829, ¶31;
Cert. of Conversion, RE 45-5, PAGEID #883–94; Roberts Dec., RE 3-2,
PAGEID #73, ¶19.)

 Effective July 1, 2016, Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC added the word
“Southern” to its name, resulting in Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio,
LLC. (Jt. Stip. RE 45, PAGEID #829, ¶32; Cert. of Am., RE 45-6, PAGEID
#896–99; Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID #73, ¶19.)

 On June 27, 2016, Southern Wine & Spirits of America, Inc. converted from
a Florida corporation to a Delaware LLC and changed its name to Southern
Wine & Spirits of America, LLC. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #829, ¶33;
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Cert. of Conversion, RE 45-7, PAGEID #901–02; Roberts Dec., RE 3-2,
PAGEID #73, ¶18.)

 Effective July 1, 2016, Southern Wine & Spirits of America, LLC changed
its name to Southern Glazer’s Wine and Spirits, LLC. (Jt. Stip., RE 45,
PAGEID #829, ¶34; Cert. of Am., RE 45-8, PAGEID #904–05; Roberts
Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID #73, ¶18.)

In addition, the ownership of Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC

also changed. Before June 30, 2016, Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC

was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glazer’s, Inc. (Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID

#73, ¶19.) On July 1, 2016, Glazer’s contributed all of its membership interests in

Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC to Southern Glazer’s Wine and

Spirits, LLC. (Id.) As a result, the entity that was previously organized as Glazer’s

Distributors of Ohio, Inc. (owned by Glazer’s, Inc.) is now organized as Southern

Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC (owned by Southern Glazer’s Wine and Spirits,

LLC).

Southern Glazer did not dispose of any assets in connection with the

Transaction and did not sell or otherwise transfer its franchise for the Great Lakes

Brands. (Id. at PAGEID #73, ¶20.) Following the Transaction, Southern Glazer

continued to distribute all of the same brands for Great Lakes that it had distributed

prior to the Transaction. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #830, ¶38.) Great Lakes also

continued to supply its beers to the same Southern Glazer facility as it had before

the Transaction (Southern Glazer’s Columbus Branch at 4800 Poth Road). (Id. at
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PAGEID #830, ¶38.) And Southern Glazer has continued to distribute Great

Lakes’ craft beers exclusively from that facility. (Id. at PAGEID #827–28, 830,

¶¶16–17, 24–25, 39–40.)

The Transaction also did not impact the day-to-day operation of Southern

Glazer or its distribution of Great Lakes. (Roberts Dec., RE 3-2, PAGEID #73,

¶21.) The Columbus branch at 4800 Poth Road continues to be Plaintiff’s principal

place of business. (Second Roberts Dec., RE 15-1, PAGEID #255, ¶ 2.) The same

equipment and facilities continue to be used to receive and ship the Great Lakes

Brands at the Columbus branch. (Id.) And virtually all of the same employees

continue to work for Southern Glazer—the only changes in personnel have been

ordinary retirement, promotion, hiring, and employee migration unrelated to the

Southern-Glazer’s Transaction. (Id.)

The structure and impact of the Southern-Glazer’s Transaction was different

in states outside Ohio. In particular, in Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana, Iowa, and

Kansas, Glazer’s was a distributor for MillerCoors. (June 6, 2016 Letter, RE 9-10,

PAGEID #199.) Those MillerCoors operations were not part of the Southern-

Glazer’s Transaction, as they were assigned to a new entity, Glazer’s Beer and

Beverage. (Press Release, RE 9-6, PAGEID #181). In Ohio, however, Glazer’s

was not a MillerCoors distributor, and so its Ohio business was not assigned to that

new entity—rather, the same entity that originally entered into a franchise with
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Great Lakes in 1999 continued to distribute Great Lakes. (See Roberts Dec., RE 3-

2, PAGEID #73–74, ¶¶19-21.)

D. Great Lakes Attempts to Terminate Southern Glazer’s Franchise

Before the Transaction closed, the parties discussed the Transaction and its

potential impact on the distribution of Great Lakes’ beers. In those discussions,

Southern Glazer pointed out that under Ohio law Great Lakes’ consent was not

required for the change in its ownership, but Great Lakes maintained that its

consent was required. (See, e.g., May 11, 2016 Letter, RE 9-8, PAGEID #193–94;

May 27, 2016 Letter, RE 9-9, PAGEID #196–97.)

Consequently, before the Southern-Glazer’s Transaction closed, neither

Southern Glazer nor any other related entity sought Great Lakes’ consent for the

change in Southern Glazer’s ownership. (Jt. Stip. RE 45, PAGEID #830, ¶42.)

Nor did Great Lakes consent to the change in Southern Glazer’s ownership. On

July 26, 2016, Great Lakes sent a letter purporting to terminate Southern Glazer’s

franchise rights, which precipitated this lawsuit. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #831,

¶44; July 26, 2016 Letter, RE 9-13, PAGEID #206–08.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it issued an injunction

preventing Great Lakes from terminating Southern Glazer’s franchise rights. After

substantial written submissions and a hearing, the District Court carefully
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considered the record and weighed the likelihood of success on the merits, the

potential for irreparable harm to Southern Glazer, the risk of harm to others, and

the public interest, and found that the factors weighed in favor of an injunction.

Great Lakes does not identify any error in the District Court’s decision that

warrants reversal, and does not address two of the injunction factors—harm to

third parties and the public interest. Great Lakes’ arguments on the other two

factors have no merit and ignore the deferential standard of review that applies to

the District Court’s mixed conclusions of fact and law.

With regard to likelihood of success, the District Court concluded that the

record established serious questions going to the merits of Southern Glazer’s claim

that Great Lakes did not have “just cause” to terminate its distribution franchise, as

Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85 requires. Great Lakes disagrees with the District

Court’s conclusion and asserts that it had “just cause” because (a) Southern Glazer

allegedly breached § 9(a) of the franchise agreement by failing to obtain Great

Lakes’ consent prior to the change in its ownership, and (b) Southern Glazer

allegedly violated § 1333.84(F) by transferring “the franchise” without Great

Lakes’ consent. The District Court, however, found that there were serious

questions as to whether § 9(a) was enforceable, and whether the evidence

established a transfer of “the franchise.” Great Lakes fails to identify any error in

the District Court’s analysis warranting reversal.
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With regard to the remaining preliminary injunction factor, the District Court

concluded that Southern Glazer would be irreparably harmed if Great Lakes

terminated Southern Glazer’s franchise rights. In reaching that conclusion, the

District Court relied on evidence showing that Great Lakes’ brands are unique, that

they comprise a significant portion of Southern Glazer’s sales, and that the loss of

Great Lakes’ brands would irreparably injure Southern Glazer by impairing its

reputational goodwill and eroding its customer base, resulting in significant

injuries that would be difficult to calculate. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #443.)

Great Lakes does not directly challenge those factual findings on appeal.

Instead, Great Lakes argues that Southern Glazer would not be irreparably harmed

because a separate, inapplicable provision of its franchise agreement purports to

allow it to terminate the franchise at will upon the payment of compensation—in

what would amount to an end-around of the statute. The District Court rejected

this argument because the contractual provision on which Great Lakes relies does

not foreclose its factual findings that establish irreparable harm. Great Lakes has

not identified any clear error in the District Court’s analysis. Accordingly, the

District Court’s application of the preliminary injunction factors should,

respectfully, be affirmed.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court considers four factors in deciding whether to issue a

preliminary injunction: “(1) whether the plaintiff has established a substantial

likelihood or probability of success on the merits; (2) whether there is a threat of

irreparable harm to the plaintiff; (3) whether issuance of the injunction would

cause substantial harm to others; and (4) whether the public interest would be

served by granting injunctive relief.” Hamilton’s Bogarts, Inc. v. Michigan, 501

F.3d 644, 649 (6th Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

These four factors are balanced against one another but are not prerequisites that

must be satisfied. In re Eagle-Picher Indus., Inc., 963 F.2d 855, 859 (6th Cir.

1992); Brake Parts, Inc. v. Lewis, 443 F. App’x 27, 28 (6th Cir. 2011).

This Court reviews a district court’s ultimate decision to issue a preliminary

injunction for an abuse of discretion. Tri-Cty. Wholesale Distribs., 565 F. App’x at

479. “Under this ‘highly deferential’ standard,” this Court does not “‘decide

whether [it] would grant a preliminary injunction if [it] were acting in the place of

the District Court.’” Brake Parts, Inc. 443 F. App’x at 29 (quoting Leary v.

Daeschner, 228 F.3d 729, 739 (6th Cir. 2000)). Rather, this Court will disturb a

district court’s decision to issue a preliminary injunction only if the district court

relied on “clearly erroneous findings of fact, improperly applied the governing law,
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or used an erroneous legal standard.” Id. (internal quotation marks and citation

omitted); First Tech. Safety v. Depinet, 11 F.3d 641, 647 (6th Cir. 1993).

This Court reviews the district court’s legal conclusions regarding the merits

de novo. Tri-Cty. Wholesale Distribs., 565 F. App’x at 479. The degree of success

that must be demonstrated is “inversely proportional” to the potential for

irreparable harm—the greater the irreparable harm, the less likelihood of success is

required to warrant a preliminary injunction. ACLU v. NSA/Cent. Sec. Serv., 467

F.3d 590, 590–91 (6th Cir. 2006). Where, as here, there is a serious probability of

irreparable harm, it is sufficient for the party seeking an injunction to show that

there are “serious questions going to the merits,” id. at 591, or that the questions

present “fair ground for litigation and thus for more deliberate investigation.” Six

Clinics Holding Corp., II. V. Cafcomp Sys., Inc., 119 F. 3d 393, 402 (6th Cir. 1997).

To the extent the district court’s analysis of the merits rests on findings of

fact, those findings are reviewed for clear error. Curtis 1000, Inc. v. Martin, 197

Fed. Appx. 412, 424–425 (6th Cir. 2006). Likewise, the remaining three factors

rest largely on findings of fact and are therefore reviewed for clear error. Brake

Parts, Inc., 443 F. App’x at 28. “No single factor is dispositive, and the District

Court’s weighing and balancing of the equities is overruled only in the rarest of

cases.” Sony/ATV Publ’g, LLC v. Marcos, 651 F. App’x 482, 484 (6th Cir. 2016)

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
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ARGUMENT

In this action, Southern Glazer seeks a declaration that Great Lakes may not

terminate Southern Glazer’s franchise rights because Great Lakes does not have

“just cause” as required by Ohio Revised Code § 1333.85. The District Court

entered a preliminary injunction prohibiting Great Lakes from proceeding with its

attempted termination pending a resolution of the merits.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in entering the preliminary

injunction where it found that Southern Glazer “has raised serious questions going

to the merits of its claims as to whether Great Lakes’ attempted termination

violated the Ohio Franchise Act,” and would be irreparably harmed absent the

injunction. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #442, 445.) In addition, although

Great Lakes does not address the other two preliminary injunction factors, they

also support the District Court’s decision. This Court should therefore affirm the

District Court’s entry of a preliminary injunction.

I. SOUTHERN GLAZER HAS RAISED SERIOUS QUESTIONS ON
THE MERITS PRESENTING FAIR GROUND FOR LITIGATION.

To establish a likelihood of success on the merits, a party need not prove his

case in full. Rather, the party need show only that it has “‘raised questions going

to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult, and doubtful as to make them a fair

ground for litigation and thus for more deliberate investigation.’” Brake Parts,

Inc., 443 F. App’x at 29 (quoting Six Clinics Holding Corp., II., 119 F. 3d at 402).
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Here, Southern Glazer seeks a declaration that Great Lakes’ attempted

termination of its distribution franchise is unlawful and invalid. (Compl., RE 1,

PAGEID #9-11.) The Franchise Act provides that “no manufacturer or distributor

shall cancel or fail to renew a franchise or substantially change a sales area or

territory without the prior consent of the other party for other than just cause and

without at least sixty days’ written notice.” Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85. There is

no dispute that Great Lakes can only terminate Southern Glazer if it has “just

cause” within the meaning of that statute.3

On appeal, Great Lakes contends that it had “just cause” to terminate

Southern Glazer’s franchise for two reasons.4 First, Great Lakes asserts that

Southern Glazer allegedly breached § 9(a) of the franchise agreement by failing to

obtain Great Lakes’ consent prior to the change in its ownership, and that the

breach of § 9(a) constitutes “just cause.” The District Court, however, found that

there were serious questions on the merits as to whether § 9(a) was enforceable.

3 There is only one exception to the “just cause” requirement, which is where a
“successor manufacturer” seeks to terminate the franchise of a brand that it has
acquired. Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85(D). Great Lakes has admitted that it is not a
successor manufacturer within the meaning of that provision. (Great Lakes
Answer & Counterclaim, RE 21, PAGEID #453.)
4 Great Lakes presented various other arguments in the District Court regarding the
likelihood of success, but did not raise them in its opening brief and therefore they
are waived. See Kuhn v. Washtenaw Cty., 709 F.3d 612, 624–25 (6th Cir. 2013)
(failing to include an argument in an opening brief results in its waiver).
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Second, Great Lakes asserts that the change in Southern Glazer’s parent

company was a transfer of “the franchise” under § 1333.84(F), and that Southern

Glazer’s failure to obtain Great Lakes’ prior consent under that statute constitutes

“just cause.” But the District Court concluded that there were serious questions on

the merits as to whether the evidence presented would ultimately establish a

transfer of “the franchise.”

The District Court correctly interpreted the law governing these issues, and

founded its decision on a straightforward interpretation of the Franchise Act that is

consistent with prior decisions interpreting the Act. Moreover, the District Court

applied that law to factual findings that were based on and supported by the record

before it. Great Lakes has not established any clear error in those factual findings.5

Accordingly, the likelihood of success factor weighs in favor of a preliminary

injunction.

A. The District Court Correctly Concluded That There Are Serious
Questions As To Whether § 9(a) Of The Franchise Agreement Is
Enforceable.

Section 9(a) of Great Lakes’ franchise agreement purports to require a

distributor to obtain Great Lakes’ prior consent for changes in the distributor’s

5 In the District Court, Great Lakes has asserted that the merits involve mixed
questions of law and fact, stating: “The critical question of both law and fact—
whether the combination of Glazer’s and Southern (the “Transaction”) is a
transaction of the sort that required Defendants’ consent pursuant to their contracts
and Ohio law—is both material and disputed.” (Opp. Mtn. to Stay, RE 48,
PAGEID #957.)
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ownership. (Franchise Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(a).) The Franchise

Act, however, states that “[a]ny provision of a [written] franchise agreement that

waives any of the prohibitions of, or fails to comply with, sections 1333.82 to

1333.87 of the Revised Code is void and unenforceable.” Ohio Rev. Code

§ 1333.83. The District Court concluded that, based on the record before it, there

were serious questions as to whether § 9(a) was “void and unenforceable” under

§ 1333.83 because it fails to comply with the Franchise Act. (Op. & Order, RE 20,

PAGEID #437–38.)

The District Court’s analysis of the conflict between the Franchise Act and

the parties’ written agreement rests on a sound interpretation of the law and factual

findings supported by the record. Great Lakes’ arguments, on the other hand, ask

the Court to invent a new legal standard that defies the plain language of the

Franchise Act and would, if adopted, eviscerate the Act’s protections.

1. Section 9(a) Fails To Comply With Several Provisions Of
The Franchise Act.

Section 9(a) of the franchise agreement purports to require Southern Glazer

to obtain Great Lakes’ prior consent for a change in Southern Glazer’s ownership

or control:

Wholesaler must obtain GLBC’s prior written consent to any change
in the ownership of Wholesaler (an “Ownership Change”), including:
(i) any sale or transfer of more than 20% of the outstanding voting
shares in Wholesaler ...; (ii) any change, whether by one transaction or
a series of transactions, having the practical effect of changing or
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transferring the power to determine Wholesaler’s business policies;
(iii) a sale of all or a significant portion of Wholesaler’s assets; or
(iv) a change that would require Wholesaler’s notification to TTB of a
change in ownership under the provisions of 27 C.F.R. § 1.42 or a
successor regulation.

(Franchise Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(a).) This provision fails to

comply with several aspects of the Franchise Act and is therefore “void and

unenforceable” under § 1333.83.

First, § 9(a) does not comply with Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.84, which already

addresses the issue of whether a manufacturer’s consent is required for a change in

a distributor’s ownership. Section 1333.84(F) makes a critical distinction between

“the distributor’s right to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of the

distributor’s business, in all or in part” and a distributor’s “right to sell, assign, or

transfer the franchise” (emphasis added). Whereas § 1333.84(F) prohibits a

distributor from transferring “the franchise” “without the prior consent of the

manufacturer,” it does not require the manufacturer’s consent to dispose of the

“distributor’s business.” Id. In addition, § 1333.84(F) categorically prohibits

manufacturers from “[r]efus[ing] to recognize the rights of … shareholders” of a

distributor.

These distinctions are critical because, as several prior district court

decisions have held, they reflect an intentional decision by the General Assembly

that a manufacturer’s consent is not required for a change in the distributor’s
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ownership. See Jameson Crosse, Inc. v. Kendall-Jackson Winery, 917 F. Supp. 520

(N.D. Ohio 1996); Jameson Crosse, Inc. v. The Wine Group, Inc., No. 5:94-CV-

2321 (N.D. Ohio Dec. 2, 1994). The District Court correctly and reasonably relied

on those decisions in reaching its conclusion. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID

#433–39.)

In particular, the Jameson Crosse decisions contrasted § 1333.84(F) with the

Ohio statute that governs the transfer of a franchise for motor vehicle dealers,

§ 4517.56. The motor vehicle franchise law requires the franchisor’s approval for

“the sale or transfer of the business and assets or all or a controlling interest in

the capital stock of a new motor vehicle dealer” (emphasis added). Thus, when

the General Assembly intends to require a franchisor’s consent for a change in the

ownership of a franchisee, it says so explicitly. But the General Assembly chose

not to adopt that requirement for alcohol distribution franchises. Instead, it enacted

a statute that explicitly requires consent only for a transfer of the “franchise,” and

does not require consent for the disposition of the distributor’s “business.” This

was not an oversight:

Section 1333.84(F) by its terms requires manufacturer consent only
when the distributor is attempting to dispose of the “franchise.” Had
the Ohio legislature wished to require manufacturer consent for the
sale of a controlling portion of a distributor’s stock, it could have done
so.

Jameson Crosse, 917 F. Supp. at 525.
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Here, Great Lakes seeks to impose through its contract precisely what the

General Assembly omitted from the statute. The franchise agreement purports to

broaden the scope of the prohibition in § 1333.84(F)—from a prohibition against

transferring the franchise without the manufacturer’s consent to a prohibition

against transferring ownership of the distributor without the manufacturer’s

consent. Indeed, the provision in the franchise agreement purports to go even

farther and give Great Lakes discretion to withhold consent to “any change,

whether by one transaction or a series of transactions, having the practical effect of

changing or transferring the power to determine Wholesaler’s business policies.”

(Franchise Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(a)(ii)).

These provisions, if enforceable, would effectively give manufacturers a

veto over how a distributor runs its own business.6 They would also effectively

extinguish the right of the distributor’s owners to dispose of their ownership

interests and realize the economic value of the business—in direct contravention of

§ 1333.84(F)’s mandate that manufacturers may not “[r]efuse to recognize the

rights of … shareholders.”

6 As discussed below, the Franchise Act already provides a remedy for changes in
a distributor’s business policies that impact the distributor’s performance, by
permitting a manufacturer to terminate for “just cause.” Ohio Rev. Code
§ 1333.85. But Great Lakes has conceded that it does not wish to terminate
Southern Glazer’s franchise for any performance-related reasons. (Hr’g Tr., RE
39, PAGEID #753.)
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The consent requirements in Great Lakes’ written agreement simply do not

comply with § 1333.84(F), which is a clear division of rights and responsibilities

between manufacturers and distributors—on the one hand, “the franchise” cannot

be assigned without a manufacturer’s consent, but on the other hand, a distributor

does not require a manufacturer’s consent to determine how to “dispose of [its]

business, in all or in part.” Moreover, Great Lakes’ written agreement

impermissibly seeks to waive § 1333.84(F)’s prohibition against a manufacturer

“[r]efus[ing] to recognize the rights of … shareholders.”

The Court in Jameson Crosse addressed § 1333.84(F) more than twenty

years ago and was absolutely clear that a manufacturer’s “disapproval of the sale

[of 100% of the distributor’s stock] did not constitute legal justification for

terminating the franchise.” 917 F. Supp. at 525 (emphasis added). In the twenty

years since Jameson Crosse was decided, the General Assembly has never

amended § 1333.84(F) and distributors throughout Ohio have relied upon the

court’s interpretation of that provision in structuring their business affairs.

While Great Lakes has attempted to distinguish Jameson Crosse because

there was no written franchise agreement between the parties (Appellant’s Br. at

24-26), its argument relies on a misunderstanding of the court’s decision. Jameson

Crosse did not hold that the Franchise Act was silent on whether a manufacturer’s

consent was required for a change in ownership—it held that the language of
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§ 1333.84(F) reflected an intentional decision by the General Assembly that

consent is required only for a transfer of “the franchise,” and is not required for a

change in the distributor’s ownership. Great Lakes seeks to achieve the opposite

result through its franchise agreement, which is precisely what § 1333.83 prohibits.

The contractual consent requirements in Great Lakes’ agreement also fail to

comply with the Franchise Act in a more fundamental respect. The Franchise Act

prohibits a manufacturer from terminating a distributor’s franchise rights without

“just cause.” Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85. “Just cause” requires an actual

deficiency in the distributor’s performance—termination simply for a

manufacturer’s own perceived economic benefit is not “just cause.”7 See, e.g., Tri

Cty. Wholesale Distribs. Inc. v. Wine Grp., Inc. 565 F. App’x 477, 481 (6th Cir.

2012) (concluding that the distributor had a “near certainty of success” where the

manufacturer attempted to terminate the franchise for its own economic benefit

rather than due to a deficiency in the distributor’s performance); Esber Bev. Co. v.

Wine Group, Inc., 2012-Ohio-1215, ¶¶ 25-28 (5th Dist. 2012) (following Wine

Group); Tri-County Distrib., Inc. v. Brown-Forman Beverage Co., 1993 Ohio App.

LEXIS 2366, *9 (7th Dist. May 4, 1993) (“Brown-Forman’s termination of subject

7 A distributor’s performance standards are addressed in Ohio Rev. Code
§ 1333.86, which requires a distributor to “maintain adequate physical facilities
and personnel so that the product or brands of the manufacturer are at all times
properly represented in the sales area of the distributor, the reputation and trade
name of the manufacturer are protected, and the general public receives adequate
servicing of the products or brands of the manufacturer.”
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distributorship with Tri - County for a reason with a questionable connection with

its performance, during the 25 years of this distributorship with Brown-Forman,

was not ‘just cause…’”); Dayton Heidelberg Distrib. Co. v. Vintners Int'l Co., 1991

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21775, *18-30 (S.D. Ohio April 8, 1991) (“[J]ust cause must

mean something more than a manufacturer’s unilateral determination that it could

make more money if a franchise were terminated.”).

Great Lakes seeks to fundamentally re-define “just cause” through the

consent requirement in its franchise agreement. Whereas the Franchise Act only

permits termination for an actual deficiency in performance, Great Lakes seeks to

grant itself the right to preemptively terminate a distributor for potential

performance issues that it believes could possibly happen in the future due to a

change in its ownership. Indeed, the franchise agreement purports to allow Great

Lakes to unilaterally assess whether a change in ownership or control could impact

the distributor’s “business policies,” and to predict whether those changes might

impact the distributor’s performance of its duties under § 1333.86. (Franchise

Agreement, RE 9-4, PAGEID #160, § 9(a).)

These contractual provisions do not comply with the Franchise Act. If a

distributor’s performance of its duties is materially deficient (regardless of whether

there has been a change in ownership), a manufacturer may pursue a termination

for “just cause.” But the Franchise Act requires “just cause” to actually exist for a
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termination—it does not allow a manufacturer to terminate a distributor because it

has unilaterally concluded that the distributor’s performance might, at some point

in the future, become deficient.

Because the contractual consent requirements in Great Lakes’ franchise

agreement do not comply with the Act, they are “void and unenforceable” pursuant

to Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.83. To hold otherwise would allow manufacturers to

simply redefine “just cause” through their franchise agreements to mean any

circumstances that they subjectively decide should give them the right to terminate

a distributor. Such a result would undermine the basic purpose of the Franchise

Act—which is to “eliminate unfair practices by beer and wine manufacturers in

their dealings with distributors.” Esber, 138 Ohio St. 3d at 73 (emphasis added);

see also Solman Distribs. v. Brown-Forman Corp., 888 F.2d 170, 171–172 (1st Cir.

1989) (holding that franchise agreement purporting to allow termination without

cause was void as conflicting with statutory good cause requirement, noting “[t]he

law is necessary because of the unequal bargaining power of the Certificate Holder

as compared to the wholesale licensee.”) (citation omitted).

The District Court reviewed these issues and determined that “Plaintiff has

raised serious questions as to the validity of these provisions.” (Op. & Order, RE

20, PAGEID #438.) In doing so, the Court recognized the appropriate standard of

its preliminary assessment of the merits, concluding: “Plaintiff need not prove its
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case in full at this stage. Instead, it is enough that Plaintiff has raised questions

going to the merits that are serious and difficult enough to support the grant of

injunctive relief.” (Id. at PAGEID #439.) On appeal, Great Lakes challenges

several aspects of the District Court’s analysis, but its arguments are without merit

and provide no basis to set aside the District Court’s conclusion.

2. Great Lakes Invokes A New Standard For Determining
Whether A Contractual Term Is Void And Unenforceable
Under § 1333.83 That Is Incorrect And Immaterial.

Great Lakes argues at the outset that a contract provision is only void under

§ 1333.83 if it “directly conflicts” with a statute. (Appellant’s Br. at 19–22.) Great

Lakes did not raise this argument in the District Court and it is therefore waived.

Bellas Co. v. Pabst Brewing Co., 492 Fed. Appx. 553, 558 (6th Cir. 2012).

Furthermore, this standard is incorrect as a matter of law, and ultimately immaterial

because Great Lakes’ contract does directly conflict with the Act.

Great Lakes’ argument is not based on the language of § 1333.83—rather,

Great Lakes relies on the general common law principle that contract terms that

“directly conflict” with a statute are unenforceable. Indeed, the Struthers, Dayton

Classroom Teachers Ass’n, Countrymark, and Thomas decisions that Great Lakes

invokes (Appellant’s Br. at 19–22) have nothing to do with the Franchise Act or the

scope of provisions that are void and unenforceable under § 1333.83.
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The standard that Great Lakes invokes is simply inapplicable here. The

question is not whether the contractual terms are illegal and unenforceable under

general principles of common law—the question is whether they “waive[ ] any of

the prohibitions of, or fail[ ] to comply with, sections 1333.82 to 1333.87 of the

Revised Code” under Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.83. Indeed, if Great Lakes’ argument

were correct, § 1333.83 would only render “void and unenforceable” those contract

provisions that were already unenforceable under Ohio common law. In other

words, if Great Lakes’ argument were correct, the language in § 1333.83 regarding

“void and unenforceable” provisions in written agreements would serve no

purpose.

As a general principle, courts must “read various provisions of a statute

consistently and presume that the legislature intended the entire statute to have

meaning and effect.” InBev USA LLC v. Hill Distrib. Co., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

97423, *20–21 (S.D. Ohio Apr. 3, 2006). That principle applies with particular

force here. The language in § 1333.83 that renders contract terms “void and

unenforceable” was not part of the Franchise Act when it was initially enacted in

1974—it was not added until 1992. See 119th General Assembly SB 284 (1992).

While the general common law standard that Great Lakes invokes for illegal or

unenforceable contract terms would have applied to any written franchise

agreements prior to 1992, the General Assembly obviously concluded that the
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general common law standard was insufficient to protect distributors from

manufacturers’ contractual overreaching. It therefore specifically amended

§ 1333.83 to address the scope of what contract terms are invalid. In doing so, the

General Assembly did not adopt the “directly conflicts” standard or language that

Great Lakes invokes. It instead enacted a provision that more broadly voids

provisions that “waive” or “fail to comply with” the Franchise Act. Thus, the

standard that Great Lakes invokes is simply inapplicable.

Furthermore, Great Lakes’ argument is ultimately immaterial because in this

case the Act and the contract do directly conflict. As discussed above, Great

Lakes’ contract directly conflicts with § 1333.84(F) as well as the “just cause”

requirement in § 1333.85. In both respects, the contract terms purport to achieve a

result that is directly contrary to the Franchise Act: under the Act, a

manufacturer’s objection to a change in a distributor’s parent company “d[oes] not

constitute legal justification for terminating the franchise.” Jameson Crosse, 917

F. Supp. at 525 (emphasis added). Yet the contract purports to allow Great Lakes

to immediately terminate a franchise if a distributor’s ownership changes without

Great Lakes’ prior consent. Thus, under the Act no right of termination exists,

while under the contract a right of termination purportedly does exist. That is a

direct conflict.
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As part of this argument, Great Lakes also invokes this Court’s decision in

Bellas Co. v. Pabst Brewing Co., 492 F. App’x 553, 557 (6th Cir. 2012), to argue

that “nothing [in OABFA] prohibits parties from contracting for greater protections

than those provided by statute.” (Appellant’s Br. at 22.) That case offers no

support to Great Lakes’ argument. The contractual provision at issue in Bellas was

a “greater protection” for distributors because it required the manufacturer to

provide 60 days’ advance notice of termination. The Court held that the advance

notice provision was enforceable in tandem with the 90-day termination notice

requirement for successor manufacturers in Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85(D).

Here, Great Lakes’ contract does not provide “greater protections” for

Southern Glazer—it seeks to strip Southern Glazer of the protections in

§ 1333.84(F) and § 1333.85. Bellas does not in any way suggest that conflicting

contractual provisions that strip distributors of the most basic protections of the Act

are enforceable.8

3. Great Lakes Incorrectly Interprets § 1333.84(F).

Great Lakes raises another new argument on appeal, based on a new

interpretation of § 1333.84(F). The first clause of that statute states that

8 It also bears noting that this Court’s decision in Bellas was an appeal from a
decision by Judge Watson, and the Court affirmed Judge Watson’s analysis
regarding conflicting statutory provisions under the Franchise Act. Judge Watson
applied that same analysis in this case and concluded that there was a serious
question as to whether the contract term was void and unenforceable.
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manufacturer shall not “Refuse to recognize the rights of surviving partners,

shareholders, or heirs.” Great Lakes argues that the “rights” referenced in that

provision are limited to the rights granted in the written franchise agreement.

(Appellant’s Br. at 22–24). This new argument, which was not presented below, is

again waived and meritless.

Great Lakes’ argument is an attempted end-run around § 1333.83. If, as is

the case here, a contract term fails to comply with the Act, then it is void and

unenforceable, and thus would not exist to limit any rights of surviving partners,

shareholders, or heirs.

Furthermore, Great Lakes fails to appreciate the fundamental distinction

between a distributor and its owners.9 While a distributor’s rights are defined by

the Franchise Act and any consistent provisions of a franchise agreement, a

shareholder’s rights as an owner of the distributor exist independent of the

distributor’s franchise rights. That distinction is precisely what § 1333.84(F)

protects and enshrines. The franchise itself cannot be transferred without the

manufacturer’s consent, but a manufacturer cannot “refuse to recognize the rights

9 It also appears that Great Lakes is confused and incorrect on a basic factual level.
It describes “Southern Glazer’s Ohio” as “the surviving shareholder” of Glazer’s
Distributors of Ohio, Inc. (Appellant’s Br. at 34). Southern Glazer’s Distributors
of Ohio, LLC is the same entity as Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc. Moreover, it
does not own its own membership interests—prior to July 1, 2016, its shareholder
was Glazer’s, Inc., and its current owner is Southern Glazer’s Wine and Spirits,
LLC.
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of … shareholders.” Great Lakes’ agreement, on its face, refuses to recognize the

most basic right of a shareholder, which is to sell its ownership interest. Great

Lakes’ new argument thus ignores the plain language of the statute.

4. Great Lakes’ Other Arguments Lack Merit.

Great Lakes’ brief raises several further arguments regarding the

unenforceability of § 9(a), none of which has any merit and can be addressed in

brief. First, Great Lakes argues that Jameson Crosse is distinguishable because it

did not involve a written franchise agreement. (Appellant’s Br. at 24–26.) This

assertion was addressed above—Jameson Crosse is relevant here because it

interpreted § 1333.84(F), and the issue in this case is whether Great Lakes’

agreement fails to comply with that statute.

Second, Great Lakes asserts that § 1333.84(F) should be interpreted

according to the “functional control-based approach” that this Court adopted in Tri

County Wholesale Distributors, Inc. v. Labatt USA Operating Co., LLC, 828 F.3d

421 (6th Cir. 2016). (Appellant’s Br. at 26–28.) This argument actually relates to

Great Lakes’ assertion that the change in Southern Glazer’s parent company

constitutes a transfer of “the franchise” under § 1333.84(F), and it is therefore

addressed in the context of that argument below. But in short, the standard that this

Court adopted in Tri County relates to the definition of a “successor manufacturer”
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under § 1333.85(D) and has no bearing on what constitutes a transfer of “the

franchise” under § 1333.84(F).

Finally, Great Lakes argues that the Ohio Supreme Court’s decision in Esber

Bev. Co. v. Labatt United States Operating Co., 138 Ohio St. 3d 71 (2013) does not

support the District Court’s decision. (Appellant’s Br. at 28–29.) The argument is

without merit. The Court in Esber generally recognized that § 1333.83 prevents

parties from contractually altering the Act’s termination provisions. See Esber, 138

Ohio St. 3d at 75 (“Moreover, pursuant to statute, the parties are unable to restrict

this right of termination [in § 1333.85(D)] by contract—under R.C. 1333.83, ‘[a]ny

provision of a franchise agreement that waives any of the prohibitions of, or fails to

comply with, sections 1333.82 to 1333.87 of the Revised Code is void and

unenforceable.’”). And for the reasons described above, Great Lakes’ contract

seeks to restrict Southern Glazer’s statutory rights and protections. Accordingly,

Great Lakes has not identified any reversible error in the District Court’s

conclusion that there are serious questions going to the merits of whether § 9(a) of

Great Lakes’ agreement is “void and unenforceable” under Ohio Rev. Code

§ 1333.83, and therefore cannot support a termination for “just cause” as required

under § 1333.85.
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B. The District Court Correctly Concluded That There Are Serious
Questions On The Merits Of Great Lakes’ Theory That Southern
Glazer Sold, Assigned, Or Transferred “The Franchise” Under
§ 1333.84(F).

Great Lakes’ other asserted basis for “just cause” is that Southern Glazer

supposedly violated § 1333.84(F), which requires a manufacturer’s consent for the

sale, assignment, or transfer of “the franchise.” The District Court rejected this

argument and found that Southern Glazer was likely to succeed on its argument

that there was no sale, assignment, or transfer of “the franchise.” (Op. & Order,

RE 20, PAGEID #435–36.) Great Lakes does not identify any error in the District

Court’s conclusion, which ultimately rests on its factual findings.

The relevant portion of § 1333.84(F) states that a “distributor shall have no

right to sell, assign, or transfer the franchise without the prior consent of the

manufacturer.” The term “franchise” is defined as “a contract or any other legal

device used to establish a contractual relationship between a manufacturer and a

distributor.” Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.82(D) (emphasis added). Since Southern

Glazer and Great Lakes have a written franchise agreement, the issue under

§ 1333.84(F) is whether that agreement was sold, assigned, or transferred.

The record before the District Court fully supports its conclusion that there

are serious questions on the merits as to whether the “the franchise” was sold,

assigned, or transferred. The distributor that entered into the franchise agreement

was Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #827, ¶19.)

      Case: 16-4235     Document: 18     Filed: 01/20/2017     Page: 45



- 38 -

Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, Inc. is the same entity as the current distributor—

Southern Glazer’s Distributors of Ohio, LLC. The distributor that signed the

contract simply converted from a corporation to an LLC and added the word

“Southern” to its name. (Id. at PAGEID #829, ¶¶31–32; Cert. of Conversion, RE

45-5, PAGEID #883–94; Cert. of Amend., RE 45-6, PAGEID #896–99.)

These changes do not constitute a transfer of the franchise under Ohio law.

Indeed, Great Lakes conceded that “the conversion of Glazer’s Distributors of

Ohio, Inc. from a corporation to a limited liability company, does not appear to be

an issue.” (May 27, 2016 Ltr, RE 9-9, PAGEID #196). In addition, Ohio law is

clear that a company’s assets and franchises are not transferred when an existing

entity converts to an LLC. Rather, under Ohio Rev. Code § 1705.391(A)(3)(a)(ii),

“[t]he converted entity possesses both of the following, and both of the following

continue in the converted entity without any further act or deed: … (ii) The rights,

privileges, immunities, powers, franchises, and authority, whether of a public or a

private nature, of the converting entity” (emphasis added).

The change in Southern Glazer’s parent company also does not constitute a

sale, assignment, or transfer of the franchise. Indeed, Jameson Crosse explicitly

held that “[t]he sale of a majority interest in stock is not a sale, assignment, or

transfer of a franchise agreement.” 917 F. Supp. at 525. A similar conclusion was

reached in Bellas Co. v. Pabst Brewing Co., where the District Court found that
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after a 100% change in a manufacturer’s ownership, the franchise agreement

continued to be binding on both parties. 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24781, at *16

(S.D. Ohio March 11, 2011) (rejecting “Pabst’s argument that the distributor

agreements are not binding upon Pabst because they were not made with ‘PBC-

PHI.’”), aff’d, 492 F. App’x 553 (6th Cir. 2012). Even outside the franchise

context, “[i]t is well settled that a change in corporate ownership does not

constitute a variation of that corporation’s contractual obligations.” Baxter

Healthcare Corp. v. O.R. Concepts, 69 F.3d 785, 788 (7th Cir. 1995) (holding that

“the stockholders’ sale of O.R. stock did not constitute an assignment by O.R. of its

interests in the Agreement”).

Jameson Crosse recognized the crucial distinction between a transfer of “the

franchise” and changes to a distributor’s business operations. There, the

manufacturer alleged that the distributor underwent several changes after being

acquired by a new parent, including: changes in the location of facilities, changes

in where decision-making authority was exercised, loss of key personnel, and a

change in distribution of other brands due to a conflict between the brands carried

by the distributor and its new parent. 917 F. Supp. at 522–23. The court did not

find that these changes constituted a transfer of the franchise because “the

franchise at all times remained the property of Jameson Crosse.” Id. at 525.
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Indeed, a manufacturer’s assertion that a change in a distributor’s ownership

and operations amounts to an assignment of its contracts disregards the corporate

form and “ignores the most fundamental characteristic of a corporate entity: its

independence.” Baxter, 69 F.3d at 788. So long as a contracting party respects the

corporate form, even significant operational changes that follow a change in its

ownership do not constitute an assignment or transfer of its contracts. See, e.g.,

Review Directories Inc. v. McLeodUSA Publ’g Co., 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9807,

at *8-10 (W.D. Mich. July 9, 2001) (finding no assignment or transfer of license

agreement even though the acquiring company allegedly assumed the licensor’s

operations, because the defendant did not allege facts to pierce the corporate veil).

Here, the District Court reviewed the record and concluded that there were

serious questions as to whether “the franchise” between Great Lakes and Southern

Glazer had been sold, assigned, or transferred. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID

#435–36.) The District Court based that conclusion on its factual findings that

Southern Glazer “did not sell any assets in the Transaction or transfer the

franchise,” and that the Transaction “did not affect the daily operation of the

Columbus Branch or the distribution of the Great Lakes brands.” (Id.) Great

Lakes does not dispute those findings or identify any clear error in them.

Great Lakes instead argues that the District Court applied a “hyperliteral”

approach in determining that “the franchise” had not been sold, assigned, or
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transferred. (Appellant’s Br. p. 27.) Applying the plain language of the statute is

not “hyperliteral.” Section 1333.84(F) only requires consent for a transfer of “the

franchise,” and the Act explicitly defines the term “franchise” to mean the written

agreement. Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.82(D). The written agreement was

indisputably not transferred here. It is difficult to imagine a more straightforward

interpretation and application of the statute.

Great Lakes proposes that, rather than following the Act and the statutory

definition of the word “franchise,” the Court should use a “functional, control-

based approach” in applying § 1333.84(F). (Appellant’s Br. p. 27.) For this

proposition, Great Lakes cites this Court’s decision in Tri County Wholesale

Distrib, Inc. v. Labatt USA Op. Co., 828 F.3d 421 (6th Cir. 2016). Great Lakes’

reliance on Tri County is misplaced. Tri County involved the “successor

manufacturer” provision in § 1333.85(D). The Franchise Act does not define a

“successor manufacturer,” and in Tri County, the Court approved the trial court’s

use of a “functional, control-based test” to determine whether the defendant was a

“successor manufacturer” within the meaning of § 1333.85(D). To state the

obvious, this is not a case under § 1333.85(D). Moreover, there is no need to resort

to the interpretive rule in Tri County—that approach was adopted in Tri County

because the Franchise Act does not define the term “successor manufacturer”; in

contrast, the Franchise Act explicitly defines the “franchise” in § 1333.84(F) to
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mean the written franchise agreement between Great Lakes and Southern Glazer.

See Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.82(D).

In addition, the plain language of § 1333.85(D) undermines Great Lakes’

argument. Section 1333.85(D) is a specific provision that the General Assembly

enacted to permit termination where a manufacturer engages in a transaction in

which it “acquires all or substantially all of the stock or assets of another

manufacturer through merger or acquisition or acquires or is the assignee of a

particular product or brand of alcoholic beverage.” Thus, § 1333.85(D) explicitly

includes acquisitions of companies as well as the assignments of brands. In

contrast, § 1333.84(F), requires consent only for the transfer of “the franchise” and

does not require consent for the disposition of the distributor’s “business.” Indeed,

it is telling that Jameson Crosse’s supposedly “hyperliteral” interpretation of

§ 1333.84(F) has been on the books for over twenty years, and in that time the

General Assembly has never amended the Act to allow manufacturers to terminate

a distributor based on a change in its ownership.

In sum, the District Court correctly concluded that there are serious

questions as to whether Southern Glazer sold, assigned, or transferred “the

franchise” in violation of § 1333.84(F). Great Lakes does not identify any clear

error in the District Court’s factual findings, and the “functional, control-based”

legal standard Great Lakes invokes simply does not apply here. Accordingly,

      Case: 16-4235     Document: 18     Filed: 01/20/2017     Page: 50



- 43 -

Southern Glazer’s likelihood of success weighs in favor of a preliminary

injunction.

II. SOUTHERN GLAZER WILL SUFFER SERIOUS, IRREPARABLE
HARM IF GREAT LAKES TERMINATES ITS FRANCHISE.

The District Court also correctly determined that the second preliminary

injunction factor weighs in Southern Glazer’s favor. A party may be entitled to an

injunction if it shows that it is likely to suffer an irreparable injury if the status quo

is not maintained. Tri-Cty. Wholesale Distribs., 565 F. App’x at 482. Irreparable

harm is defined as an injury for which there could be no plain, adequate, and

complete remedy at law, i.e., an injury for which money damages cannot fully

compensate. Basicomputer Corp. v. Scott, 973 F.2d 507, 511 (6th Cir. 1992). An

injury is not fully compensable by money damages if the nature of the loss would

make damages difficult to calculate. Id.; Tri-Cty. Wholesale Distribs., 565 F.

App’x at 483.

The District Court properly concluded that, based on the evidentiary record

before it, Southern Glazer would be irreparably harmed without the injunction

because: (1) no other available brand could replace Great Lakes’ unique craft

beers; (2) Great Lakes’ products comprise a significant portion of Southern

Glazer’s sales (25% of the Columbus Branch’s total beer revenue); and (3) the

harm to Southern Glazer’s reputational goodwill and damages to other retailer
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relationships make damages extremely difficult to calculate. (Op. & Order, RE 20,

PAGEID #443–44.)

The District Court’s findings are supported by the evidence and should be

affirmed. The record confirms that Great Lakes manufactures unique craft brands.

(Hr’g Tr., RE 39, PAGEID #730.) Southern Glazer distributes 150,000 cases of

Great Lakes products annually, which equates to $5.3 million worth of its business.

(Id. at PAGEID #737, 748–49.) This is 25% of its Southern Glazer’s total

Columbus beer portfolio and 4% of its total sales.10 (Id. at PAGEID #730.) Great

Lakes’ craft beers carry significant name recognition, and as a result, many of

Southern Glazer’s customers purchase Great Lakes products and then bundle

additional products with their purchases. (Id.) More to the point, the demand for

Great Lakes products allows Southern Glazer to sell additional products. (Id.)

Thus, if Southern Glazer no longer offered Great Lakes’ craft beers, it would affect

whole customer relationships.

Numerous courts, including this one, have issued preliminary injunctions to

protect against the irreparable injuries that flow from the termination of an alcohol

distribution franchise. See, e.g., Tri-Cty. Wholesale Distribs., 565 F. App’x at 482–

83 (granting preliminary injunction and finding irreparable harm from loss of

unique brands and goodwill); Hill Distrib. Co. v. St. Killian Importing Co., 2011

10 Plaintiff has at all times distributed Great Lakes exclusively from its Columbus
branch. (Jt. Stip., RE 45, PAGEID #827–28, 830, ¶¶16–17, 24–25, 39–40.)
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U.S. Dist. LEXIS 100545, *1 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 7, 2011) (granting preliminary

injunction where loss of brands that represented 0.5% of sales would cause loss of

customer goodwill and spillover loss of sales of other brands); InBev USA LLC v.

Hill Distrib. Co., No. 2:05-cv-298, RE 11, PAGEID #142–43 (S.D. Ohio Mar. 31,

2005) (granting TRO “based on the prospective loss of revenue, goodwill and

business reputation where the damages would be difficult, if not impossible, to

calculate”); R.L. Lipton Distrib. Co. v. InBev USA LLC, No. 2:06-cv-1069, RE 10,

PAGEID #86–87 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 22, 2006); Jameson Crosse, Inc., 917 F. Supp. at

521 (noting that before case was removed the state court had granted preliminary

injunction maintaining the franchise relationship).

This Court recognizes that in the alcoholic beverages manufacturer-

distributor relationship, a distributor’s loss of a “unique” product can cause a drop

in customer goodwill and thus establish irreparable injury. Tri-Cty. Wholesale

Distribs., 565 F. App’x at 483 (affirming the District Court’s determination that the

distributor’s loss of supplier’s products would cause a loss of customer goodwill

and result in irreparable injury). In fact, the loss of customer goodwill is the

quintessential example of irreparable harm because goodwill, by its nature, is

intangible and difficult to calculate in terms of monetary damages. Basicomputer

Corp., 973 F.2d at 512.
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Further, the loss of a franchise relationship generally establishes an

irreparable harm. See Wojciechowski v. Amoco Oil Co., 483 F. Supp. 109, 112

(E.D. Wis. 1980) (“The law is very clear that the loss of a franchise is an

irreparable harm.”); Mobil Oil Corp. v. Vachon, 580 F. Supp. 153, 156 (D. Mass.

1983) (“It has been held that the mere loss of a franchise is irreparable harm.”);

Hill Distrib. Co., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 100545, at *15 (finding that terminating

franchise would cause irreparable harm because “the loss of the Brands would

have an impact that resonates long after the initial termination”).

Great Lakes does not address any of the District Court’s factual findings or

any of the above authorities. Instead, Great Lakes’ sole argument is that Southern

Glazer would not be irreparably harmed by Great Lakes’ unlawful termination

because an unrelated and inapplicable provision of the written franchise

agreement—§ 10(d)—purports to allow Great Lakes to terminate the franchise at

will upon the payment of compensation. (Appellant’s Br. p. 36.)

The District Court properly rejected this argument. In doing so, the District

Court noted that the provision Great Lakes cites states that “it would be extremely

difficult to ascertain the actual economic effects” of an unjustified termination.

(Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #444.) As noted above, irreparable harm includes

damages that are difficult to calculate. In addition, the District Court found that

§ 10(d) does not include payment for the irreparable damage to Southern Glazer’s
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goodwill. (Id.) These factual findings underlying the District Court’s decision are

supported by the record.

In addition, it bears noting that § 10(d) does not apply here and is

unenforceable as a matter of law. Section 10(d) purports to allow Great Lakes to

terminate Southern Glazer’s rights “for any reason or no reason.” This provision

waives and fails to comply with (and “directly conflicts” with) the Act’s

prohibition against termination without “just cause.” Ohio Rev. Code § 1333.85;

see Solman Distribs., 888 F.2d at 172 (finding similar provision invalid as

conflicting with statutory good cause requirement). Notably, Great Lakes’ brief

disputes whether this provision is unenforceable. (Appellant’s Br. at 17 n.4.) It is

impossible to imagine a more fundamental conflict between the Act and the

contract, and Great Lakes’ continued reliance on this blatantly unenforceable

provision illustrates the degree to which its views would, if adopted, undermine the

Act’s protections of distributors.

The District Court’s factual findings regarding irreparable harm are not

clearly erroneous, and its determination that this factor weighs in Southern

Glazer’s favor was not an abuse of discretion.

III. MAINTAINING THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WILL NOT
INJURE GREAT LAKES.

The District Court determined that there was no substantial risk of harm to

Great Lakes resulting from maintaining the status quo while the validity of Great
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Lakes’ attempted termination is resolved, and that this factor thus supports an

injunction. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #446.) Great Lakes does not challenge

or even address this finding––which is fully supported by the record––and thus has

waived any challenge to this factor. See Kuhn v. Washtenaw Cty., 709 F.3d 612,

624–25 (6th Cir. 2013) (failing to include an argument in an opening brief results

in its waiver).

IV. THE PUBLIC INTEREST WEIGHS IN FAVOR OF MAINTAINING
THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION.

The District Court determined that the public interest factor was neutral.

Great Lakes argued that the public interest was served by holding parties to their

contracts. (Op. & Order, RE 20, PAGEID #447.) Southern Glazer argued, on the

other hand, that § 1333.83 reflects a public policy decision that the protections of

the Act should supersede any conflicting contract terms. Southern Glazer

maintains that the public policy should indeed favor injunctive relief to maintain its

statutory protection against unlawful termination. But in any event, the District

Court concluded that the public policy was at best neutral, and Great Lakes has

waived any challenge to that determination by failing to raise it in its opening brief.

See Kuhn, 709 F.3d at 624–25.
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CONCLUSION

The four factors weigh in favor of maintaining the preliminary injunction,

and the District Court’s issuance of the preliminary injunction did not rely on

clearly erroneous findings of fact, improperly apply the governing law, or use an

erroneous legal standard. Thus, this Court should affirm the District Court’s

September 23, 2016 Opinion and Order enjoining Great Lakes from terminating,

altering, or otherwise interfering with its franchise relationship with Southern

Glazer, withholding deliveries ordered by Southern Glazer, changing or altering

Southern Glazer’s exclusive sales territory, and taking any action to appoint

another distributor to replace Southern Glazer in Southern Glazer’s exclusive sales

territory.
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9 112–13 Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for

Temporary Restraining Order
9-1 137 Affidavit of Daniel J. Conway
9-4 154–67 Franchise Agreement
9-6 180–81 Press Release
9-8 193–94 May 11, 2016 Letter to Great Lakes
9-9 196–97 May 27, 2016 Letter from Great Lakes
9-10 199 June 6, 2016 Letter
9-13 206–08 July 26, 2016 Letter
14 231 Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for

Temporary Restraining Order
20 433–39, 443–44,

446–48
Opinion and Order

21 453 Great Lakes Answer & Counterclaim
35 713 Notice of Appeal
38 721–22 Scheduling Order
39 724, 729–30, 737,

746, 748–49, 753
Hearing Transcript

40 764–805 Motion to Dismiss
45 824–31 Joint Stipulation
45-4 879–81 Press Release
45-5 883–94 Certificate of Conversion
45-6 896–99 Certificate of Amendment
45-7 901–02 Certificate of Conversion
45-8 904–05 Certificate of Amendment
48 957 Opposition to Motion to Stay
58 1151–71 Motion for Summary Judgment
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